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THE AMAZING WEB

CHAPTER I

“WANTED: 1,200 MEN”

AL LIPKE, his sleek black hair parted in the middle, his checked suit pressed to fit every curve of his well-shaped form, his lone valise unpacked and its contents placed on the bureau, took from the bellboy of the Hotel McAlpin in New York City the Chicago newspaper he had just sent out for, and dismissing the boy with the usual gratuity went over to the tiny desk at the window which looked out on Broadway. There he sat down, and unfolding the paper quickly with a brief glance at its now two-day-old date-line turned at once to the “Help Wanted” columns. Topping the very first column of the advertisements was one which made him nod his head with satisfaction. Although occupying not over sixty words, it was set off with a good bit of white space above and below, and it stood forth prominently. It ran:


WANTED: 1,200 MEN WITH SUITCASES, AGED FROM 18 to 60, any nationality or trade, to work thirty minutes at simple, easy and interesting employment one morning during coming days from 7.30 a.m. to 8 a.m. No education required. No canvassing. $10.00 to each man. WATCH THIS SPACE CAREFULLY FOR FURTHER PARTICULARS.



Lipke tossed the Chicago paper into the empty drawer of the desk and turned once more to a New York paper he had been examining when the bellboy had knocked at the door of his room. This already was open at the classified section, and in the column devoted to theatrical employment one advertisement carried in it the name of the hotel Lipke was now gracing, and the date and hour in which it was being examined.

This second advertisement ran:


WANTED AT ONCE: PERFORMER WHO CAN DO A FEAT of any kind that cannot be duplicated. As high as $1,000 will be paid for one performance. Ask for Mr. Cloyd, Hotel McAlpin, Saturday, at or after 1 p.m. only.



A tiny onyx clock on the dresser tinkled forth one sharp note, and almost on the heels of it the phone in the room rang sharply. The big man rose creakingly from his desk chair and answered the call.

It was the hotel clerk speaking.

“Mr. Cloyd, there’s a number of the gentlemen you’re expecting waiting downstairs to see you. It’s just one o’clock. Shall I begin to send ‘em up?”

“Yes,” said Lipke. “Just send the first man up. I’ll call for ‘em one at a time.”

He had hardly got seated in his chair by the window before a light tapping on the door announced that the first man was there. Lipke rose, and crossing the luxuriously carpeted floor, opened the panelled door. In the opening stood a slender, olive-skinned man, carrying a tiny black satchel. He bowed.

“Charles Carino is my name. Is this Mr. Cloyd?”

“The same. Come in, please.” Lipke closed the door back of the visitor. “You came in answer — ”

“In answer to the advertisement,” said the olive-skinned man. “You wished a man who could do a feat of any kind that cannot be duplicated. Theatrical in nature, I presume?”

“Well — yes,” said Lipke undecidedly. “Theatrical — that is, perhaps.” He placed an arm-chair close by his desk. “Have a chair. What is your feat?” He dropped into his own chair.

The olive-skinned Carino was already opening his bag on a slender stand which stood, elbow high, near the wall. “First do I demonstrate,” he said firmly, “and then we talk business far more clearly.”

From his bag he took nine balls, each about an inch and a half in diameter, each finished in white and gold. He laid the bag on the floor and moved the stand a few feet toward the middle of the room. Tossing off his coat, he rolled up his sleeves. He picked up three of the balls and, scarcely seeming to pay any attention to what he was doing, talked away as he worked.

“Any amateur,” he said with a yawn, “can juggle three balls.” No sooner had the words left him, than the three balls were flashing in the air in a rising and falling cascade from one hand to the other. He suddenly picked up a fourth and in a trice the fourth was now one of the previously moving three. “Four balls is the first step that a juggler’s son learns,” Carino explained with a smile, “as he crosses from amateur work into professionalism. Five balls constitutes professionalism,” he went on. “Thus,” he picked up the fifth and tossed it into the circulating four. They were now five. They rose and fell in rhythm. “It usually takes from four to six years to master six balls,” he said. “That proves that the Great Carino has been in the game that long at least.” Almost without notice he had deftly picked up the sixth ball. “And there are said to be only four men in America and eleven in Europe who can handle seven. If I may say so, I — ” He stopped, and with a very deft motion picked up the seventh ball from the stand and now it too became part of the eye-dazing cascade of moving spheres. He juggled in silence for a moment to get back his poise. “As for eight balls,” he said at length, “there are no living men to-day, with the possible exception of one, who can juggle eight at one time. The few of the old school who were known to do it are dead and gone, and only Charley Carino is left to — ” With a cautious look at the cascade of balls, he tossed into them one of the two remaining spheres on the slender table. He was forced to make a quick and snapping motion to do it, but in the twinkling of an eye it was part of a rising and falling array that no eye could seemingly follow, much less a human brain. Carino spoke rapidly, and a bit nervously now. “As for nine balls, no living juggler in the history of juggling has ever managed nine balls at one and the same time, either by the underhand or the overhand throw, or the rotatory. No man, living or dead to-day, can do it. Except perhaps — ”

He paused. Lipke continued to watch, fascinated. Carino, after one or two attempts to reach quickly out to the stand, suddenly snatched from it the remaining ball — the ninth! — and by what appeared to be a superhuman feat of deftness and nerve, swung it into the intricate pattern of living spheres he had woven.

“You now behold Charles Carino, Mr. — er — Cloyd, the only juggler in the history of juggling, living or dead, who can handle nine balls. And I’ve done it for ten full minutes at a stretch.” With a few seconds longer of the white streaks flowing from his finger-tips, he rapidly began, as jugglers do, to retire the balls one by one, swiftly, and of a sudden they dropped to eight, to six, to four, and the remarkable performance was over with a snap.

Carino turned to the stand, tossed his spheres into his tiny black bag, and dropping into the arm-chair across from Lipke spoke in a very business-like tone.

“What have you to offer, Mr. Cloyd?”

Lipke sat for a long minute staring, thinking. Finally he spoke. “Carino, you’ve got a remarkable stunt there. It may be that you have what I need. And it may be that I’ll get something just a bit nearer to my requirements. I don’t know yet. In fact, I can’t tell till — say — to-night. I’m in a position to pay you mighty well for one performance if it turns out that you’re my man. The single performance will take place in Chicago. Expenses paid both ways, of course, and — well — we’ll talk actual money later, if we get to that point.” He looked at his watch. “Now let me know where I can get in touch with you, and I may phone you to-night.”

Carino bowed. He took from his pocket a tiny card bearing the name of some uptown hotel. He took up the tiny black satchel, and with a few voluminous bows he bowed himself out, just a little bit disappointed evidently, yet appearing hopeful as well.

Lipke stepped over to the phone and lifted the receiver. “Have the clerk send up my next caller, please. Mr. Cloyd in room 918 speaking.”

He had not long to wait before a timid tapping at the door announced that applicant number two had arrived. Opening it, Lipke puzzledly surveyed in the outer corridor two persons, a shrinking, timid-appearing woman in black widow’s weeds, leading by the hand a boy of perhaps fifteen years of age. The boy possessed an enormous high forehead; he was pale to the point of sickliness; and his little blinking, sharp, watery eyes gazed upon the world through a great pair of hornshell spectacles.

Lipke stepped aside politely and bowed the two in.

“Your name, madam?”

“Mrs. Kelsey, sir.”

He wrote it down. “You came in answer to my ad., I presume?” he asked, leaning back.

“Yes, sir,” the woman replied. “You see, Floto here has just been booked up on the Orpheum circuit to go out three weeks from to-day as the Human Encyclopædia. Floto is a wonder, Mr. Cloyd. They say there never was anything like him on the stage. He has read books since he was four years old, morning, noon and night, and he has never forgotten a word of what he has read. I saw your ad., and thought that before Floto starts out on his first tour we might stage an advance performance, although — ”

“Yes,” interrupted Lipke, staring at the watery-eyed, precocious youngster, whose orbs darted back and forth from his proud mother’s face to the objects in the room. “So you’re going to try and buck all comers on handing out information, Floto?” he queried curiously.

“Yes, sir,” shrilled the boy in a thin piping voice. “Maw always said I was a wonder, and these theatrical people are going to pay me two hundred dollars a week.”

Lipke studied for a moment. “You answer all and any questions propounded to you, do you, Floto?”

“Yes, sir,” came the piping answer of the boy quickly.

Lipke pondered for a moment. Then he cleared his throat.

“What’s the population of Texas, Floto?”

The boy’s answer came quick, sure and shrill, the words tumbling over each other. “Population in 1900, 3,048,710; in 1910, 3,896,542. Originally part of Republic of Mexico, revolted and established independent republican government; subsequently annexed to United States. Seceded February 1, 1861. Readmitted to representation by the act of March 30, 1870.” He stopped and yawned.

Lipke appeared a little staggered. The woman across the way beamed with a maternal pride. Lipke scratched his head. Then he fired straight to the child wonder another question:

“How old does the whale go, Floto?” said Lipke, gritting his teeth against this watery-eyed compendium of knowledge.

“Whale, 1,000 years; elephant, 400; eagle, 100; horse, 25 to 30; rabbit, 7; rat — ”

“Good enough,” said Lipke hurriedly. He thought for a moment. Then he grinned malevolently. “How would you keep flies off hams in a grocery store, Floto?”

“Paint th’ hams with py-py-pyroligneous acid,” drawled the boy. “That’ll keep the flies off and won’t hurt the hams.”

“Well, I’ll be — ” begun Lipke. He shook his head wonderingly. He drew from his vest pocket a coin. “Floto, I’ll give you three chances to answer this. I’ve got here an old United States 20-cents piece. What’s the date on it?”

“Easy,” pronounced the child wonder. “Gotta be 1875, ‘76, ‘77 or ‘78, because those were the only years they was coined in.”

Lipke laughed a laugh of wonder and awe. He turned to the woman. “Mrs. Kelsey, I reckon you’ve got a winner in that kid on the vaudeville circuit. I’ve seen a few alleged human encyclopædias in my time, but never one like him. But he won’t quite do for my very particular special purpose.” The woman’s face fell visibly. “I have need for an act — well — do something more spectacular, I think, and while Floto here is good, he won’t quite fit in with my plans. Thanks for coming up to see me anyway.”

The woman’s face was long. She rose. “Come, Floto, we’ll be going. Sorry we can’t please the gentleman.”

The next visitor was tall and thin; he had the high forehead of the college professor, and the drab black clothes and black tie that never in this world characterized the clothing of the professional performer.

“Mr. Cloyd?” he asked.

“The same,” said Lipke, surveying him cautiously under half-closed lids.

“Professor Kanning,” said the man in black clothes. He smiled. “Of the New York State University, Mr. Cloyd.”

“Come in, professor,” said Lipke, the cautious look vanishing. He closed the door. The other looked about, then took a seat.

“I saw your advertisement wholly by accident in the New York paper to-day while I was coming down to the city,” he said hurriedly. “So I ran over, and not being able to lose much time this morning came on up to your room.”

“Now what was your name and business?” asked Lipke.

“Mathew G. Kanning, assistant professor of mathematics at the New York State University. I am, Mr. Cloyd, what is known as a rapid calculator, and it was on account of this faculty that my people educated me along the lines of mathematics. It struck me that I might be able to put up a demonstration for you, for whatever purpose you’re seeking, that might prove exactly what you want.” He paused expectantly.

“Hm!” Lipke drew in a puff or two from his cigar. He pondered. “Well — what number multiplied by itself will give — er — er — 35,129,329?”

Kanning laughed a low, mild laugh. “They call that, in mathematics, Mr. Cloyd, extracting the square root. The square root of 35,129,329 is 5927 even.”

Lipke nodded his head slowly. Had he had time to check it, he would have found that his visitor was correct, but multiplication was a sore and tedious process with him. But undaunted, he snapped forth another question.

“What does 4567 multiplied by itself twice equal?”

The faintest wave of intensive thought seemed to pass over the face of the Kanning mental calculator. Then came the answer, quick and sure like a rifle shot, hardly fifteen seconds after the question was propounded.

“106,519,112,263, Mr. Cloyd.”

Lipke gave vent to a dry laugh. He took out his watch. “Let’s see how many seconds it’ll take you to multiply 3962 by 4174 and divide the whole thing by 4212,” was his reply.

“Why count the seconds?” asked Kanning casually. “The correct answer is 3926 and 25/100 plus.”

Lipke leaned back in his chair and crossed his legs. “Professor Kanning, you’ve got a faculty that’s probably the most interesting one in the world, but it’s not much good in a theatrical way.” He rose. It was plain that the interview was ended.

Kanning too arose. “Well, I thought I’d just drop in and see you,” he remarked without any rancour.

After he was gone, Lipke at once called up the clerk. “How many more fellows waiting?” he queried.

“Four, Mr. Cloyd.”

“Send them all up,” he directed.

Then he arranged four easy chairs near his desk and prepared with paper and pencil to do a clean-up on the day’s business. Not long after came a thunderous pounding on the door, and Lipke ushered in his visitors.

They filed in, two of them evidently knowing each other, for they were chatting together in an undertone. They dropped as by automatic mental procedure into the four easy chairs, and Lipke once more resumed his old chair by the desk. He surveyed them carefully before he spoke.

Number one, at the extreme left of the semicircle, was a tall man, appreciably pockmarked and of a dark colour, as though he might have been part Mexican. Number two was a herculean individual, a veritable ox, with thick corded neck, and muscles that seemed to strain and play under his suit of generous cut. Number three was a dapper, wide-awake fellow with glistening black hair parted to the very thousandth of an inch, dressed in a loud brown suit of faultless cut. Number four, the last of the group, was a man of undoubted foreign extraction, for his blue eyes, keen and straight, and his light hair, were those of the races of the Balkans.

With a glance back along the four faces, Lipke spoke.

“I presume, gentlemen, that you’re all professional theatrical people, and so it’s hardly necessary for me to waste time in rehearsing my proposition separately.” He paused. “As my ad. stated, I’m looking for an act of some sort that exceeds any act now in vaudeville; that is, it must be a feat of brand-new kind. Now, gentlemen, if you have no objections toward talking business together, may I have your names and your work, and, if feasible, even a demonstration.” He turned toward the dark-skinned man with the pockmarked face. “Your name — ?”

The pockmarked man was taking from a long slender leather case what proved to be a sword with sharp edge and delicate point.

“My name is Gonzalez,” he said in good English. “Manuel Gonzalez.” He took up the sword and holding it aloft showed engraved along its edge what appeared to be a scale divided into inches and half-inches, each of which was numbered. “The longest sword-swallowing act on record is 15 inches. That’s done by Du Bois of London. Now watch, if you will, please.”

With a deft motion he slipped off his ready-tied tie, and unloosed his batwing collar. He stood erect, throwing his head back. Raising the sword just above his face he placed the point in his open mouth and lowered it gently, slowly, cautiously, down, down, down. At last the fascinating downward progress of the steel weapon stopped. Gonzalez closed his lips gently on the flat sides of the blade. He pointed. Even from where he sat, Lipke could plainly see that the lips were closed together on the engraved mark which said 17 inches. He nodded, and the sword was swiftly withdrawn. Gonzalez proceeded to button up his collar and replace his bow tie.

Lipke with a glance at his watch turned to the huge ox-like Teuton.

“And you?”

“Hugo Daumstaddter,” he said. “Der only strong man by vaudeville — vot can lift two horses vit one hand. So!” He took from a flat newspaper package a large glossy coloured photograph showing a man, with muscles bulging, clad in a gaudy trunk with red and blue stripes and silver stars, lifting up a wooden beam from each end of which, in a specially constructed harness, hung a husky-looking draught horse whose legs stuck comically out and whose eyes popped from his equine head.

Lipke inspected the photograph very carefully, surveying the man across from him and studying every detail of the picture. Then he laid it down on his desk and turned to the next applicant, the dapper little fellow with the jet-black hair and the loud but expensive suit.

“George Murphy,” was the name by which that individual introduced himself quickly and easily, at the same time lighting a cigarette. “Known as Boko, the handcuff king. Guarantee to get out of any pair of handcuffs in America in sixty seconds and to get out of a wooden box tied by any three selected members of an audience and dropped into a glass tank of water. Claring of ‘Frisco claims to do the stunt, but everybody in the profesh knows that he uses three picked men and the double slip knot. I use a perfected method of my own. Devised it myself.”

Lipke thought for a moment, a very long moment in fact. Then he turned to the quiet, foreign-looking man with the light hair and the steely blue eyes.

“And your name and act?” he inquired.

“Gus Chevalo,” said the other in slow, precise English. “Four years with Barnum & Bailey as Crazo, the daredevil cyclist. Have just perfected the newest spectacular feat in cycle work. Hasn’t yet been shown in public. It’s the double loopless loop-the-loop on a bicycle.”

Lipke leaned forward. “The double loopless loop-the-loop on a bicycle,” he exclaimed.

“Two complete loops in mid-air without a track,” Chevalo explained proudly. “It’s the evolution supreme of the old jump-the-gap and loop-the-loop.”

Lipke stroked his smooth chin reflectively. “You say this act has never been done in public before?” he asked.

Chevalo laughed a quaint laugh. “If I fail, then the neck goes” — he made a suggestive motion — “snap!”

Lipke rested his chin in the palm of his hand for a full minute. Then he turned to the other three men. “I think I’ve got the act I want,” he pronounced. “So I’ll excuse the rest of you gentlemen so as not to take up your time. Have a cigar.”

They rose disgruntledly, and after conducting them to the doorway and bowing them out, Lipke was alone with Chevalo.

“Chevalo, tell me all about this act of yours.”

“Nothing much to tell,” said the little foreigner modestly. “I been practising on and off for four years on the stunt. Did my practising with a net under me, out at my home in the country on Long Island. Best I could do was the single loop-the-loop, until after about three thousand failures I got the secret by changing the angle of incline of the edge of the jump-off track. The double loop-the-loop’s never been done in circus history.”

“You carry your own apparatus?”

“Yes. Fits in a space 9 by 12 by 6 when taken down. Costs about two dollars a mile for transportation.”

“Chevalo, what do you expect to pull down in the circus on this act?”

“Ought to be worth four hundred a week,” said the other.

Lipke calculated a moment. “For fourteen performances a week that means slightly less than 30 dollars a performance.” He pondered. “Chevalo, I think you’ve got the stunt I want. I want to use you in Chicago for one performance and one only. The price I offer is 1,000 dollars. Just what my idea is in using you I don’t feel at liberty to say. This much I can tell you: There will be no advance featuring, no advertising, no publicity.” He paused. “Got any photograph that will give me an idea of this act?”

Chevalo drew from a large photograph container he had brought with him a glass snapshot taken evidently by a high-grade quick-action camera. It showed a man dressed in circus tights, surrounded by all the evidences of country life, such as chickens, cows and horses in the background and a white-frame cottage some distance off out of the focus, in the act itself of turning a somersault on a bicycle which at that second hung upside-down in mid-air between the ends of two white-painted platforms, one evidently the end of an incline, the other a landing platform.

“Do you guarantee if you fail that there’s no fee?” asked Lipke cautiously, looking up from the photograph.

Chevalo again laughed his quaint, quiet laugh. He pointed significantly to his neck. “The neck and spinal column guarantee it,” he commented sagely.

Lipke drew up his chair closer. After fifteen minutes of details and carefully worked-out future arrangements, Chevalo bowed himself out, and Lipke dropped back by the window which looked out on Broadway.

“It couldn’t be better for the purpose,” he ruminated to himself. “The rubberneck newspaper reporters ought to foot the bill for giving ‘em the story they’ll get out of it. And the story — ah — it makes the scheme absolutely police proof. Neither the best news-hound on the Chicago Press nor the sharpest plain-clothes man on the Chicago police force has a chance to get wise to the connection with Archibald Chalmers. Chalmers may go to the electric chair yet — and he may not; but he’s got a good team working for him in the team of Lipke and Crosby.” And at his facetious coupling up of the names of Lipke and Crosby, he smiled a smooth, satisfied smile that to an onlooker would somehow have suggested power — the power of unscrupulousness and daring; a smile in which one corner of his mouth turned up and the other remained unchanged in its angle. And there he remained sitting, staring unseeingly down at the traffic of Broadway.

Now we are going to throw back our story to October, 1923, to the little town of Brossville, Kansas, where practised a rising young attorney, by name David Crosby. In this way we shall introduce ourselves to the more virtuous and upright half of the team which Al Lipke calls the team of Lipke and Crosby, and better yet we shall view the very events which some years later are to place Al Lipke, screened from any too-prying members of the New York detective bureau by the less notorious name of “Mr. Cloyd,” in a high-priced hotel on Broadway. In fact, we shall know in detail whethe the risking of the neck of Gus Chevalo, the daredevil cyclist, in a double loopless loop-the-loop, is to save from the electric chair and its deadly 2,200 volts Archibald Chalmers, Chicago society’s popular idol, and defendant in a charge of murder in the first degree. But we must start from the beginning.





CHAPTER II

THE DEFENCE OF LINDELL TRENT

IT was the morning of the trial of Lindell Trent for grand larceny.

From a window in his office in the modern three-storey Jones Building, David Crosby, attorney-at-law, œtat 26, stared out at the one and principal street of the town of Brossville, Kansas. Across the way was the one-storey red-brick building which housed the tiny town’s only other attorney, Henry White; and down at the foot of the Jones Building, with its great grey scabs of paint peeling away, due to the annual visitation of the hot Kansas sun, lay the long dusty road fronted on each side with ramshackle buildings and hitching-posts that bore the dignified appellation of Main Street.

With a long sigh, Crosby turned from the window to the battered desk which comprised the chief article of furniture in the painfully bare office, and taking up a shiny new leather portfolio of papers from it, closed the door behind him and went out into the bright October morning sunlight. Outside he walked slowly, thoughtfully, a troubled — even pained — expression on his face, as far as the town lock-up, and there turned up the short flight of stone steps that led into that very undesirable residence.

A nod to a fatherly-looking, bearded man chewing away at a huge cud of tobacco, and Crosby was ushered into one of two rooms which fronted each other across a wooden hallway, where Lindell Trent sat on the edge of a tiny cot. A table containing a ponderous Bible chained to the wooden top, a hard-seated rocker and a straight chair completed the furnishings of the tiny cell, for the bars on the high-up window showed only too plainly the nature of the room.

She was a girl of perhaps nineteen, slim almost to slightness. Her black dress was simple, and revealed threadbare poverty. Eyes big and dark, jet hair slightly disarrayed, complexion a little pale, a strained look about the sweetly curved mouth. Her face lighted up, and then the light faded, as David Crosby, entering the room with the lock-up keeper, nodded to the old man and was left alone with her. Without a word he took up the straight chair, and drew it close to the bed on which she sat.

“What have you decided, Lindell?”

The girl looked at him, a frightened, hurt look in her eyes.

“David, you know I have decided but one thing, to stick to my story. I am not guilty.”

Crosby’s face carried a pained, stubborn look.

“But I tell you, Lindell, it will do you no good. It will mean a conviction. Why fly into the face of certain disaster, dear, against a jury of farmers and townspeople who will be antagonized by your deliberately trying to play innocent?”

Into the girl’s face came the suggestion almost that she was about to break into tears — tears that must flow from the breaking of a heart. But the man saw them not; his eyes saw only the spectacle of a young and rising attorney defending a girl guilty of grand larceny who brazened it out in spite of all the damning circumstances against her. Into his eyes came a sanctimonious look, and then as they rested upon her the look softened, and his eyes radiated love. He leaned forward, his hard bony hand — the hand that had pitched hay fourteen hours a day in the harvest fields of Kansas to put him through the little college — clasping hers.

“Lindell, dearest, listen to me, please. The trial takes place now inside of a half-hour. I am your attorney, appointed by the court, even though Zelina is my half sister-in-law. Lindell, you are supposed in law always to take the advice of your counsel. I am a lawyer of three months’ experience. While you have been engaged in your daily tasks, I have seen a number of instances of the psychology of men confronted with facts such as the ones in your case. Just so sure does it mean a verdict of guilty by those grizzled farmers. This is no big city, dear one, where a girl’s brown eyes influence a jury of men. These are old churchgoers, stern, righteous, men with daughters, natives of a place which looks upon you as haughty, condescending. As your lawyer, I — I have a right to handle your case to your best advantage.

“Lindell, it makes no difference to me what or why you did it, or why you maintain your innocence. I love you just the same, just as dearly. I am not as the others in this town, ready to turn away. I am going to handle your case as I see fit, and I am going to minimize the results of your folly, and then we are going to marry, and never refer again to the thing as long as we live. We can go away to Millville, to Prairie City, to Reedtown, to a number of places, and get away from it all. But I maintain” — his voice rose — “from my superior knowledge of the psychology of juries, that a plea for mercy is the only thing in your case. To fight, to contest, to hold forth as you wish will bring down from those stern old farmers a sure verdict of guilty. And in such case, old Judge Hibbard will be unable to do anything but impose a penalty.”

He paused, and the girl stared listlessly at the opposite wall. Finally she spoke.

“I am too tired, too worn, David dearest, to argue with you. I shall not plead guilty. But the handling of the case is, after all, your affair. Oh, how I wish — how I wish that I had never seen this hateful town!”

“In which case,” replied Brossville’s youngest attorney pompously, “you would never have met me.” He glanced at a cheap silver stem-winding watch. “I must go now, Lindell. We will do the very best we can, and trust that the men who hear our case will see fit to temper their justice with mercy.” He leaned over and kissed her full on the lips, but the response from them was the response of a tired child. Then he turned swiftly, and still carrying the shiny portfolio under his right arm, left the lock-up and strode down Main Street.

The one and only court-room of the town, with its high cobwebby ceiling, was crowded. Old Judge Hibbard, chewing tobacco, his gold-rimmed glasses perched upon his nose, sat at the top of the bench and near-sightedly gazed over the crowd of rustics and townspeople. In the jury-box twelve dour, serious-looking men of the American farmer type waited expectantly and righteously. Henry White, prosecutor, bald-headed, batwing collar soiled, fumbled at the lawyers’ table with a mass of papers.

And the audience! Who has not seen a small town audience assembled in a court-room? The younger men chewing tobacco, the girls in their finery tittering; the youths nudging the tittering girls; strait-laced matrons come to see the viper sent from their midst.

And the cause of all this excitement? Lindell Trent, Zelina Miles’s orphan girl, whom she had taken from the county poorhouse, had returned her mistress’s kindness by stealing a diamond ring from her and had been found out!

The tittering stopped abruptly and hats were removed with startling rapidity when the tobacco-chewing old man with the gold-rimmed glasses on his nose nodded from his raised bench to the clerk, Fat Winter, who arose and read off the notice that “court has conve — ened.” A deathly silence filled the room as a white-faced, slim girl in black, with great dark eyes, entered a tiny enclosure through a battered wooden door at the side of the big room, accompanied by a fatherly-looking man who took a seat at one side of her.

The court-room was unnaturally quiet as the girl responded to old Judge Hibbard’s opening question. But her reply was so faint as to be scarcely audible.

“Not guilty, sir,” were the three brief words which carried scarcely to the jury-box.

Henry White’s opening speech was short and to the point, punctuated by a nervous fumbling at the dirty batwing collar. Then he turned and, nodding to a woman across the way, finished his speech.

“The first of the two witnesses for the ah — State — will be the plaintiff, our honourable townswoman, Mrs. — ah — Zelina Miles.”

Mrs. Zelina Miles, arising in her dignity from the mass of onlookers, gave a pert nod to her half-brother-in-law, David Crosby, as she passed the lawyers’ table and stepped into the witness-box. She was an austere-looking woman of forty-five or thereabouts and was garbed for the occasion in a black silk dress, and carried a black silk parasol. Henry White, rubbing his bald head, began the examination of the witness.

“How long have you known the defendant?”

“You mean this here girl there?” she pointed at the white-faced creature in the enclosure.

“The same,” said Henry White.

“Sence I took her out of the poorhouse at Prairie City, a year back, to help me with my sewing for customers,” declared the witness, who was the town’s only dressmaker.

“Now will you relate,” went on the prosecutor, still fumbling with the refractory batwing collar, “the events which transpired on the day and evening of October 1st, a week ago?”

The witness straightened out her black silk waist, and adjusted the compact knot on her head.

“The girl never impressed me,” she said, turning to Judge Hibbard, who chewed away impassively, “as bein’ a thief. So when I go up to Prairie City early on the morning of the first to do some shoppin’, leaving her a goodly pile o’ sewin’ to do, I went in perfec’ understanding that anythin’ I lef’ in the house would be perfec’ly safe. I was away all day, buyin’ a number o’ things and takin’ in the sights o’ the town, an’ I lef’ there on the three o’clock westbound. While I waited the ten minutes at Pott’s Junction from 4.05 to 4.15 to catch the southbound Texas and Southern Kansas, I got a sort o’ premonyshun that mebbe I’d made a mistake by leavin’ of my bedroom unlocked while I was gone all day. I — ”

“Will you please tell the jury,” said Henry White, “about the object of value you left in that bedroom?”

“My diamon’ ring,” stated Zelina hurriedly. “Amos give it to me in the year 1904, the time o’ the big crops when we was farmin’ the Dean place out west of town. I’d allus wanted one. It cost $200. It was in my bureau drawer next to my prayer book. It — ”

“Had the defendant ever seen that ring? And did she know where it was kept? Tell the jury about that.”

“She’s seen it a hundred times if she’s seen it once, and she’s seen where I kep’ it a hundred times when we been house cleanin’ together,” declared Zelina emphatically.

“Now proceed with the story,” said Henry White, glancing rather pityingly at young Crosby, who sat erect and impassive at the lawyers’ table across from him.

“So, as I says, while I waits on the platform o’ Pott’s Junction for the ten minutes, I says to myself: ‘Zeliny, you hadn’t oughter have left that ring in that place with that girl alone. You don’t know nothin’ about that girl, her mother bein’ an Australian brought here by Dan Trent who a’n’t no good himself nohow, the two of ‘em havin’ to be buried at the county’s expense and their dotter brought up in a orphan home.’ So when the train gets into town prompt at 5.05, I comes home and gets in within ten minutes, stoppin’ only a minute to pass the time o’ day with old Mrs. Jellifer across her garden fence. I goes home and asks Lindell if she was busy all day, earnin’ her dollar a week an’ keep as she should. She shows me a pile o’ sewin’ that she claims she done. She acts sorta queer somehow, it seems to me. Then I goes into the bedroom, feelin’ somehow that everything wasn’t right. I looks into my drawer and the ring is gone.”

“And then what did you do?” asked Henry.

“I calls in Constable McCrearity, who’s settin’ right over there alongside o’ Lindell, and we interviews Lindell pretty closely. She claims that she don’t know nothin’ about it. She claims that a woman pedlar come to the house that day sellin’ sewin’ thread an’ needles, an’ the woman bein’ faint she let her lie down on the couch a while in the settin’ room while she run across the street to see how Johnny Baker was after his fall out o’ the apple tree. But no pedlar, man or woman, could have guessed exactly where I kep’ that diamon’ ring, an’ I knowed it too. I up and got hot, and called in Constable McCrearity and demanded that he make a search o’ Lindell’s things.”

“That is, you suspected the defendant?” said Henry. “And you made a formal accusation?”

Zelina nodded. The girl in the prisoner’s box looked white and pained, as though at an unpleasant recollection.

“First thing he comes to, searchin’ over the pockets of her spring jacket, that giddy red thing she bought with that money she earned from me, that jacket no self-respecting girl would wear — a jacket like a painted woman would wear — was a hard lump where somethin’ was sewed up in the corner.”

“Tell the jury what you found therein?”

“I found my diamon’ ring, the selfsame ring that Amos bought me in 1904, with the selfsame engravin’s in it, ‘From Amos to Zelina’: found it in that there girl’s red jacket, a-sewed up.”

“Will you show the jury the object, and state the cost of it? But I believe you have done so. Two hundred dollars, did you not say?”

Zelina took from her handbag a tiny object which sparkled in the morning sunlight. Fat Winter in silence carried it over to the jury-box. It was passed from hand to hand amid tense silence in the court-room and then carried back. Henry White nodded to the witness.

“You are excused.” He bowed to his confrère across the table, and added — “to the defence.”

“Cross-examination is waived by the defence,” was the defence’s only statement, in a low voice.

Zelina Miles climbed down from her wooden chair.

“Call the next witness for the State,” ordered Henry White.

“Constable John McCrearity,” intoned Fat through his nose.

The grey-bearded lock-up keeper and constable ascended the stand. His interrogation was short and quickly answered.

“What did the defendant do when you took her into custody?”

“She cried,” said old McCrearity, “and said that the woman pedlar must have taken the ring and sewed it up into her jacket while she was gone from the house.”

Henry smiled a supercilious smile, and McCrearity, excused, pausing a moment to hear once more the defence waiving its cross-examination of him, stepped down from the witness-stand.

Old Judge Hibbard, staring down at the lawyers’ table through his gold-rimmed glasses, asked one question:

“Will the defence call its witnesses?”

Crosby, speaking in the same low voice that had characterized his only two utterances thus far, looked up at Hibbard. “The defence has no witnesses.”

A silence filled the court-room. Henry White arose.

He turned to the jury. He spoke rapidly, fumbling at his batwing collar, and his speech, although in places theatrical, was that of a man who has been long in the courts. He spoke easily and fluently of the viper in our midst, the viper we took to our bosom, the viper who turned and stung us. He dilated at some length on the biblical injunction against theft. He rose to oratory at the end, and his final utterances were met by the craning necks of the grizzled old farmers in the jury-box, some of whom forgot to chew on their cuds. Two of them nodded as though in approval. A buzz of comment ran through the court-room.

David Crosby stood up. He placed his right hand between the first and second buttons of his coat, and addressed himself, as had Henry White, to the jurymen.

“Gentlemen of the jury,” he said, “my speech to you all will be of brief duration. My eminent colleague, Mr. White, speaks of the sanctity of the law, of the consumer of our crusts who has violated the friendliness of our sheltering roof. But to you all he says nothing in regard to the fact that the crime of which this girl has been accused is her first offence.” He shook his long hair fiercely back from his forehead. “Let us entirely disregard the mere technicality that she has pleaded not guilty in this court with her own lips. Not one of us but would have done the same. Let us consider matters in the light of her past history. This girl was reared in an orphan asylum, without mother or father to guide her. She has always, up to this time, been a worthy citizen of our good town. That she fell once to temptation does not mean an inherent badness. This girl has been an industrious worker among us: and because a girl’s hungry eyes are carried away by a glittering bauble the like of which she knows that she can never possess on her meagre wage is a factor of psychology — psychology, I say — which we must allow for. Gentlemen, I say to you, earnestly, let us bring in a verdict of not guilty.”

Henry White’s concluding speech lasted but two minutes, and consisted of several vicious short-arm jabs with respect to the theory of law in general. Law was law, declared Henry, and it was the one and only thing that differentiated us from the savages from which we sprung; and if law were disregarded in favour of sentiment, then straight into anarchism we were headed, and straight into anarchism we would finally land, where no man would own his wife nor his dwelling-place.

Instructions to the jury, after Henry White had plumped down into his chair, were brief to the extreme. “The facts and the law are before you, gentlemen,” said he of the cud and the gold-rimmed glasses. “If you find the defendant guilty of unlawfully appropriatin’ the object shown to you, valued at 200 dollars, this court hasn’t no other choice but fixin’ the penalty given in our statute books for grand larceny in the State o’ Kansas. This defendant bein’ o’ legal age that penalty is fixed at no less’n one year in the penitentiary an’ no more ‘n five. That’s all, gentlemen.”

The foreman of the jury, Zeb Potter, arose, after deliberation, and announced their verdict.

“We find the defendant guilty as charged,” were his words, “but recommend the honourable court to impose the minimum sentence that the statute books provide.”

The girl in the prisoner’s box gave a long-drawn-out gasp — then leaned back weak and faint against her seat. The long tension of the moment was broken by the voice of Fat rapping out, “O-order in the co-ort,” as an excited buzz of comment and talking ascended, together with the loud shuffling of feet as certain individuals rose to get back to their various occupations, quite deserted this morning.

In the little cell-like ante-room for prisoners, with its one window that looked out on Brossville’s main street, Crosby found Lindell ten minutes later after his last stumbling formalities of polling the jury had been complied with, and the court-room was at last devoid of juror and judge, spectator and prosecutor. She was standing by the window gazing out. McCrearity was at her side, clumsily holding her jacket for her.

“Lindell,” the younger man said in a low voice, “it — it — the verdict — makes no difference to me. None whatever. I love you just the same. After those instructions from the jury, Judge Hibbard can only impose the minimum sentence. It will mean only a year, dear, and that will reduce to eleven months. And when the sen — when the eleven months are over, I will come for you and will call this a black page in our life, to be forgotten for ever in a little home of our own. We will go to a new town. We — ”

The girl spoke. Her voice was the voice of irony tempered by bitter reproach.

“David, you were my attorney. It was your duty to make some defence of me, your client. I could have loved you so — so much if you had fought for me — if you had even believed in me — had done your best — the best that is in a lawyer for his client. But now — now — now — ” With wet eyes she thrust out a restraining hand as he stepped across the short space between them in the little room. “No, no, no, do not come near me. I am convicted of a crime, and — and — sentenced — sentenced to the penitentiary.” She turned to old McCrearity. Her brown eyes filled with a sudden flood of blinding tears. “Constable McCrearity, please, please take me away.”

And David Crosby found himself standing all alone in the gloomy little ante-room, staring dazedly out at the dusty road that wound past the temple of justice and righteousness.





CHAPTER III

“YOU’LL NEVER MAKE NO LAWYER, DAVID”

DAVID CROSBY, sitting alone in his office in the Jones Building, raised his head sharply as the decrepit phone on the wall tinkled its call. The daily leaf calendar on the wall showed the date to be December 29, 1923, and the old boxwood clock on the desk, with its hands pointing at ten o’clock, showed that two more hours would herald a new day.

As the bell again tinkled, Crosby rose hastily, just a little puzzled as to why his phone should ring at ten in the evening, and, mopping back from a face which had grown thinner from hard study a thatch of light brown hair, strode over to the instrument and raised the nickel receiver.

“Hello!”

“Crosby? David Crosby?”

“Yes. Attorney Crosby speaking.”

“This is Dr. Duff.”

“Oh — why — hello, doctor! How is Zelina to-night?”

“Zelina is sinking fast, Crosby. She’s dying. I want you to get over here at once, David. Zelina has something on her mind. Wants to talk to you. It’s a question of coming quick. Amos wants you too. Will you make it?”

“Yes. I’ll be there at once.” He hung up.

He lost no time. Taking down from the wall a long cheap ulster overcoat, he buttoned himself carefully in and clambered down the creaky stairs of the old draughty Jones Building into the night air.

Head on against the wind, he made his way, and ten minutes later turned in at a small white cottage with snow-encrusted fence and icicle-covered porch. He did not need to knock, for the door was opened by his half-brother, Amos Miles, lamp in hand, in shirt-sleeves, his face haggard, who peered out at his visitor. “Come in, Dave,” he directed in a low voice.

He led the way to a tiny bedroom off the hall. An odour of drugs pervaded the hallway, and inside on a stand were the usual array of nauseous medicine bottles: the lamp casting its sickly glare over the bare room, the old-fashioned bureau with its marble top. And on the bed lay the woman who three months before had mounted the witness-stand in Judge Hibbard’s court, even then thin, scrawny, bony — but to-night a veritable skeleton, the sallow skin drawn like parchment over the skull, the eyes deep and piercing and burning, the fingers clawing away at the coverlid.

The burning eyes riveted themselves on Crosby as he entered the room and crossed quickly to the bedside. Old Dr. Duff stepped aside, stroking his white beard troubledly.

The drawn skin over Zelina’s skull broke into the semblance of a smile. She turned her head weakly towards Dr. Duff. “David’s here now, doctor, an’ I must talk. I must talk. I must!”

“Just a little then, Zelina,” said old Duff. “Do you want to talk to David alone?”

“No, no, no,” said the sick woman. “I want you” — she turned her head very slightly towards her husband — “and you, too, Amos, to stay.” She pointed, half nodded at the rickety chair by the bed. “Set down, David.”

“David,” said the sick woman fiercely, with a burst of energy as though the last fires of the furnace of life were flaring up in an attempt to consume the very furnace itself, “that girl — that girl — Lindell — never stole that diamond ring.”

“Never stole that — ” repeated Crosby dazedly, but the sick woman stopped him with a flicker of a gesture of a thin hand. Her voice went on, weak, wavering, yet to the point. “No, David, Lindell Trent never took that diamond ring. I’m goin’ fast. I’m — I’m sinkin’, an’ I can’t go over the dark river without clearin’ my soul. Oh God,” she wailed, “what have I done to Thee? Oh, forgive me.”

A tense silence followed, in which the three men looked at each other embarrassedly.

“David,” said the sick woman suddenly, “I — I was jealous. “She turned fiercely to her husband. “Oh, Amos, you made so much over Lindell — you talked to her so much at the table — you was with her so much that I thought you — you didn’t care for me no more. I — Oh, Amos, I — I was wild crazy. I thought after all these years — ”

“There, there, now, Zeliny, don’t get excited,” cautioned her husband tenderly. “Lindell warn’t nothin’ to me, Z’liny. She jes’ made me think of a little datter like I allus wanted — that’s all. You were always my girl.”

“Oh, Amos, why — why didn’t you tell me that, then?” She stopped and appeared to sink into a doze.

David Crosby, his head roaring as though filled with a thousand cataracts and falls, was the one who broke the silence. “Zelina, Zelina! you say Lindell never took it?”

“I be’n a bad woman, a wicked woman, an’ I got to make my peace before I meet my Maker. I — I was crazy jealous o’ Lindell. I never thought no jury’d convict her o’ crime. I never had a night’s sleep sence. I thought she’d be drove out o’ town, instid o’ arrested, but that Henry White went an’ put th’ case afore that gran’ jury that was settin’ on the hoss-stealin’ case, an’ got a — a — a — indictment. An’ then he prosecuted her, an’ I had to stand by my story. I — I never thought they’d do anything but drive her away. I never thought the jury would vote her guilty.” She paused, evidently for breath. “I’m gettin’ weak. I must tell it. I — I must tell it. I never went to Prairie City that day. I went to Reedtown, instid. The night afore I went, I — I sewed up thet ring in the little girl’s red jacket, an’ next mornin’ I took the train for Reedtown where there was a carnival playin’. I lef’ Reedtown at 3.40, and come on home. Then I accused the little girl o’ takin’ the ring, and called in Constable McCrearity. That’s all.” A profound silence filled the room. The sick woman turned fiercely on Crosby. “David, I be’n a wicked woman. Why, oh why, David, didn’t you ask me questions on that witness-stand? Why didn’t you show me up the liar that I was? Better I be hounded out o’ town than that I got to go to my Maker after what I done to Lindell Trent. Why, David, I never lef’ the road that runs from Brossville to Reedtown where the carnival was. The — ”

“The Texas and Southern,” put in her husband for her.

“Yes,” said the sick woman. “If I’d gone to Prairie City that day, David, as I said on th’ witness-stand, instid o’ sneakin’ up to Reedtown to take in the sights o’ that wicked carnival, I’d a-had to change cars both comin’ and goin’ at Pott’s Junction, so’s to get on to the Kansas an’ Western. I’d a-got to Prairie City all right, but I’d a never got back again that night account th’ washout — ”

“The washout!” ejaculated David Crosby.

The sick woman gave a short, hard laugh. “David, you won’t never make no lawyer. You’re too easy, David. You’re too willin’ to let a wicked woman like me lie and succeed. No, David, that there bridge over Mills Creek went down at noontime that day, and the train that was to get into Pott’s Junction jes’ ten minutes before the Texas and Southern never got there at all. If I’d a-gone to Prairie City, I couldn’t a-made connections. I couldn’t a-got back at all that there day I said.” This last statement seemed to consume all of the woman’s strength.

“When did you first learn about the washout, Zelina?” asked the young attorney in a faint voice.

“I noticed there weren’t no passengers waitin’ on the platform at Pott’s Junction that day,” said the sick woman, “but I never learned the reason till long after they sent Lindell Trent away. I — I — well, I was readin’ some old Prairietown Gazettes about a week after Lindell was sent away. An’ in the October 2nd Gazette it told about there bein’ no chance for the trains to get by that creek after — after noontime the day before.” She stopped as though completely exhausted by her efforts to pour forth her story.

“Then if I had checked up your movements on that day, Zelina, and investigated; if I had even cross-questioned you on the witness-stand, I could have broken your story completely?”

The sick woman nodded. “You coulda broken it, David. I never were no hand at tellin’ a lie an’ gettin’ things straight. I wish to God you had, David.” She turned fiercely to the other two. “You all heard? You all heard? It was me. I done it. I done it. And Lindell Trent is servin’ a year in th’ penitentiary for it.”

Dr. Duff stepped forward and felt the sick woman’s pulse. Then he shook his head. “You did the right thing, Zelina, to talk, and you’ll feel better for it. Yes, we all heard. Now you must be quiet.” He turned to David. “I think you’d better go, David. She must rest for a while, now.”

Out in the hall, Crosby, his face white, buttoned himself into his great-coat, Amos Miles troubledly holding the lamp. “I’m sorry, Dave. It’s tumble. O’ course we’ll right th’ wrong done to that pore gal at once. Pore, pore Z’liny.”

“Yes.” Crosby turned the handle of the door. “I’ll be in again to-morrow, Amos.”

And out into the night he went, face against the snow, his brain beating a tattoo against the top of his skull. He did not turn his footsteps back to the little office in the Jones Building. Instead he pierced his way through the wind and snow to the tiny railroad station of Brossville, situated on the Texas and Southern Kansas line. There inside, he found the telegrapher, a new chap, pounding away at his key with a green celluloid shade over his eyes and a half-opened bright red novel at his elbow. The latter nodded to Crosby, evidently recognizing him as one of the town’s citizens. Crosby looked at his cheap silver watch. “There’s a T. and S. K. train through here at midnight, isn’t there, that reaches the State Penitentiary at Leavenworth around morning?”

The keyman nodded. “Strikes Leavenworth at 8.14 a.m.”

Crosby went down in his pocket and dug up a meagre roll of bills. “Give me a one-way ticket,” was all he said.

The midnight flyer of the Texas and Southern Kansas stopped at the signal of the telegrapher’s red lantern, and Crosby climbed aboard. Finding a seat in the half-lighted car, filled with bedraggled passengers asleep and half asleep, he sat all night, his eyes hot, staring through the window at the black velvet curtain that parted only occasionally to show glimpses of snow-clad hills. Came morning at last, and then bright daylight. And shortly after eight o’clock a very tired and dishevelled young attorney stepped out on the depot platform of the busy city of Leavenworth. A decrepit bus carried him out to the grey-walled penitentiary, and he walked up the gravel path that led to the warden’s quarters.

Now in the bright daylight, in the actual sight of that grim sepulchre of steel and stone, his muddled recriminations of the past night grew more clear and at the same time more poignant. Fool, fool that he had been, he reflected bitterly. Had he been a real attorney, as she claimed in her last bitter words to him; had he been what his college degree had termed him — a lawyer — instead of a pompous orator, he could have cleared her in spite of the well-defined prejudice against her in the town of Brossville.

He had to wait in the mahogany-furnished warden’s office for a full thirty minutes before that official appeared, evidently just from a warm, satisfying breakfast. The latter was a kindly-looking man of perhaps fifty years of age, with silver-grey hair and brown eyes that radiated a keen understanding of many things. Crosby lost no time in stating his own name, occupation and residence. Then, beginning at the beginning, he told briefly the complete story of Zelina Miles’ diamond ring. Concluding, he said:

“And there you have the facts of what appears to be one of the worst miscarriages of justice that we can contemplate. The hardest part of it all is that I am to blame. That’s all I can say now. As for Mrs. Miles’ story of last night, of course it will be borne out by her husband, Miles, and by Dr. Duff. And now can we go to her and tell her our good news?”

Warden Clayton leaned forward, chin in hand, his brown eyes troubledly studying those of his visitor.

“I don’t wish to be rude, Mr. Crosby, but I note that several letters bearing your name have come to Lindell Trent at intervals of every two weeks, and that each was returned to you unopened by her.”

Crosby flushed to the roots of his hair. “I can well realize now why she is so bitter against me. She must feel nothing less than contempt for me. I care more for that girl than anyone dreams. The only thing I can do now it to make it up to her by being good to her for the rest of my life, if she’ll consent to forget my miserable handling of her case.” He paused. “Can we go to her now and tell her the good news?”

Clayton leaned forward in his chair. “I’m mighty, mighty sorry,” he said regretfully, “that this development didn’t happen sooner. Mr. Crosby, Lindell Trent is no longer an inmate of Leavenworth. She is somewhere — I don’t even know where myself — on the continent of Australia on the other side of the world.”

“No longer an inmate! In Australia?” ejaculated Crosby, bewildered.

Clayton nodded slowly. “Yes. Here are the facts, however. You no doubt remember, Mr. Crosby, of the success England had combating her man shortage during the Big War by running her machine shops with women. At that time we instituted a light machine shop here at Leavenworth for some of our women prisoners. Now Lindell Trent, being a short-term prisoner, was assigned to a tiny drill press in this women’s shop. She was very bright, very willing, a remarkable little personality in every way. She had been there only a month when Governor McCloud made his annual visit of inspection to the institution. He was accompanied by his wife and little daughter. Just how it happened no one knows, but in the women’s shop the little girl strayed too close to the gears of the big milling machine. Her sleeve caught. She screamed. Lindell Trent was the first to grasp what had happened. The little one’s arm was almost between the teeth of the gears when Lindell Trent sprang to the machine and jammed in a monkey wrench. In so doing she stripped off every tooth of the gears, and burned out the motor, but she saved the arm, perhaps the life, of the daughter of the Governor of Kansas. Also she lacerated two of the fingers on her right hand.”

Crosby was silent. His face, first white, showed slowly the return of its colour. “And Governor McCloud pardoned her?” he ventured in a low voice.’

“She was out of the prison hospital in a week, Mr. Crosby, but the signed pardon was here the second day after the accident. She left us, taking with her the ten dollars which the State gives every departing prisoner, and a gift of three hundred and fifty dollars sent to her by the Governor’s wife.”

“And she went — where?”

Clayton was silent for a moment, during which he regarded his visitor gravely. Then he turned to one of the drawers of his desk, and fumbling in it withdrew from it a letter. “I am going to let you read this letter,” he said simply. “Perhaps it will answer your questions more fully than I can do.”

Crosby reached out a hand hungrily and took the missive. As he unfolded it, a postcard photograph dropped into his lap, and before reading the letter itself he took up the picture and gazed at it. It showed Lindell Trent clad in a neat suit of dark material, with a little lace collar around the slim throat, her dainty fingers holding a peculiar handbag which appeared, in the photograph, to be made up of a number of round discs like coins. On her face was the shadow of a smile, and she seemed to Crosby to be looking straight into his own eyes. Swallowing the lump in his throat, he turned his attention at once to the letter. Written in a clear round hand, a bit immature, yet every word of which was correctly spelled, he read off:


SAN FRANCISCO, CALIFORNIA.

December 4, 1923.

Warden Charles W. Clayton,

State Penitentiary,

    Leavenworth, Kansas.

MY DEAR KIND FRIEND — 

I am writing to tell you of myself, as you asked me to do. As I said when I left the prison, I came directly to San Francisco. I have been here a few days, living in a queer little hotel on Market and Fremont Streets, but day after to-morrow I am saying good-bye for ever to America and to the name of Lindell Trent. Over in the heart of Australia, some forty miles from a town, is a brother of my mother’s, a queer silent man who lives by himself in a little farm out in what she used to call “the bush.” He believes that electricity is a weapon and invention of the Devil, and no doubt has many other equally queer notions. He never reads the papers or has anything to do with the rest of the world. But even though he be such a queer man, I know that he will welcome me when he learns that I am his sister’s child and sees the little trinkets of mother’s which I took with me when I left Leavenworth. But oh, Warden Clayton, I shall not even dare tell him that mother married a man by the name of Trent, or that that is my name. I shall not even be able to tell him that we lived around Brossville and Prairie City, for he might write to either one of those two places. I shall have to come to him under my new name only, for that is the only way that I may be sure that even my uncle shall never know that his sister’s child was sent to an American prison for theft.

The whole thing has been heartbreaking for me, but thank God I am to leave it all behind me now. The worst part of it all to me was the part about David Crosby, the man who defended me in court. That is, he didn’t defend me, Warden Clayton; he pleaded with the jury to let me go on account of my age, and his every word was like a dagger in my heart. That David should not believe in me, that he could not see with his own eyes that I must be innocent; that he could not have fought for me when he claimed he loved me — oh, it seems so hard. I am not a lawyer, yet somehow, some way, I feel that I could have been saved from this disgrace if my case had been taken care of right.
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